#### NO. 31616-5-III

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

FILED JAN 31, 2014 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

v.

JESUS TORRES,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR BENTON COUNTY

The Honorable Bruce A Spanner, Judge

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

JENNIFER J. SWEIGERT Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

###

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The State failed to present sufficient evidence appellant knew the mini-motorcycle he was riding was stolen.

2. The court erred in denying appellant's motions to dismiss and for a directed verdict.

3. The court violated appellant's constitutional right to a public trial by permitting private exercise of peremptory challenges on paper.

4. The court erred in ordering restitution without sufficient evidence.

#### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Possession of a stolen motor vehicle requires proof appellant knew the vehicle was stolen. Appellant told police his friend built the mini-motorcycle he was riding. His friend testified he did not build the bike, but is a mechanic, was repairing it and has built vehicles from parts before. Was the evidence insufficient to prove knowledge beyond a reasonable doubt?

2. Jury selection was not open to the public because peremptory challenges were exercised on paper. Because the trial court did not analyze the <u>Bone-Club<sup>1</sup></u> factors before conducting this important

-1-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 629 (1995).

portion of voir dire in private, did the trial court violate appellant's constitutional right to a public trial?

3. A restitution order must be based on easily ascertainable damages, not speculation. In this case, at sentencing, the court awarded restitution in the amount of \$503.35. When there was no evidence presented regarding the amount of restitution, should this Court reverse the restitution award?

#### B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

#### 1. <u>Procedural Facts</u>

The Benton County prosecutor charged appellant Jesus Torres with one count of possession of a stolen vehicle and one count of driving while license suspended in the first degree. CP 1-2. The court denied motions to dismiss and for a directed verdict on the possession of a stolen vehicle charge, and the jury found Torres guilty on both counts. 1RP<sup>2</sup> 90-91; 112-13; CP 26, 27.

The court denied Torres' request for a drug offender sentencing alternative and imposed 29 months, the top of the standard range for possession of a stolen vehicle, consecutive to 8 months on the misdemeanor charge. 3RP 9; CP 32, 35. The court also ordered Torres to pay legal

-2-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> There are four volumes of Verbatim Report of Proceedings referenced as follows: 1RP – Feb. 4, Feb. 5, 2013; 2RP – Feb. 4, 2013(voir dire); 3RP – Apr. 24, 2013.

financial obligations including \$503.35 in restitution. CP 33, 40. Notice of appeal was timely filed. CP 41.

#### 2. <u>Substantive Facts</u>

Police stopped Torres after he rode a mini-motorcycle across the street. 1RP 75. Police were investigating because they had received a call from Michael Horton that he had seen someone riding his mini-motorcycle that had disappeared from his home. 1RP 53, 55, 75. Torres told the police it belonged to a friend who had built it from the ground up. 1RP 75-76.

Torres' friend Jeremy Hendricks testified he was an uncertified mechanic and the bike was dropped off with him for repairs by Dustin and Brittany. 1RP 94-95. He was acquainted with the couple, but did not know their last names. 1RP 94-95. Because they could not pay for the repairs, he kept the bike until they could pay him. 1RP 95. He testified both he and Torres had taken the bike for a test drive, and neither of them knew it was stolen. 1RP 95-96. He testified he does sometimes build devices from spare parts, but has never built a motorcycle of this type. 1RP 96, 100. Although he knew Torres was arrested in October, Hendricks did not speak to police about this until approached by Officer Littrell in January. 1RP 99. Littrell testified Hendricks told him the bike was dropped off by someone named Nick. 1RP 104.

-3-

Horton claimed to recognize the bike from the tear in the seat, oil smudges, vise grips where the shifter had broken, and the residue from the electrical tank that had been running along the gas tank. 1RP 52-53, 55, 58-59. Horton testified he paid \$200 for the bike, which was below market value. 1RP 54, 64. When he got the bike back, it had significantly more damage. 1RP 57-62. The court admitted Horton's photographs of the bike he lost and police photographs of the bike Torres was found riding. 1RP 49-50, 59-62. A co-worker of Horton's, who was with him when he saw Torres riding the bike, testified he was certain it was Horton's bike. 1RP 69, 71. The defense agreed the bike was stolen and Torres was seen riding it but argued there was no evidence he knew it was stolen. 1RP 132, 134.

The exercise of peremptory challenges during voir dire appears to have happened entirely on paper. In explaining the process, the court told counsel, "So long as you don't write the word 'waive,' you are free to exercise your peremptory on any juror, whether in the box or out on the benches. Once you write the word 'waive,' then thereafter, you can only exercise peremptories against those who get into the box as the result of the other side's peremptories." 1RP 20. After each side had passed for cause and questioned the potential jurors, the court announced, "It is now time for the attorneys to exercise their peremptory challenges." 2RP 68. The record then reads, "(Whereupon peremptory challenges were made.)" Id. The

-4-

court then announced, "All right. That concludes the peremptory challenges. I'll check with the clerk to verify my notes are correct." <u>Id.</u>

A brief discussion was then held off the record. <u>Id.</u> Next, the court excused the challenged jurors by name and number. <u>Id.</u> A jury roster was filed with the court the following day that lists the peremptory challenges exercised by each side including each challenged juror's name and number. CP 43. An additional list described the outcome for each juror including "PD" designations for those excused on peremptory challenges by the defense and "PP" for those excused by the State. CP 45-46. The trial minutes list the peremptory challenges but do not reveal which side challenged which juror. CP 48.

#### C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### 1. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO PROVE TORRES KNEW THE MINI-MOTORCYCLE WAS STOLEN.

Knowledge that the property is stolen is an essential element of the offense of possession of stolen property. RCW 9A.56.140; RCW 9A.56.160. Mere possession of property that has been stolen is insufficient to convict for possession of stolen property. <u>State v. McPhee</u>, 156 Wn. App. 44, 62, 230 P.3d 284 (2010) (discussing possession of a stolen firearm) (citing <u>State v. Couet</u>, 71 Wn.2d 773, 775, 430 P.2d 974 (1967). These principles apply equally to the related offense of possession of a stolen

-5-

vehicle. <u>See State v. Hayes</u>, 164 Wn. App. 459, 480, 262 P.3d 538 (2011) (pattern jury instruction requires possession be knowing "to supply the mens rea element the legislature must have intended"). Additionally, the to-convict jury instruction required the jury to find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Torres knew the motorcycle was stolen. CP 16. This instruction is binding as the law of the case. <u>State v. Hickman</u>, 135 Wn.2d 97, 102, 954 P.2d 900, 902 (1998) (State assumes burden of proving all elements of the offense included without objection in the "to convict" instruction). Torres' conviction should be reversed because the State failed to present evidence he knew the mini-motorcycle was stolen.

When sufficiency of the evidence is challenged, appellate courts review the record to determine whether the evidence was sufficient for a reasonable person to find every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979) overruled on other grounds by Schlup v. Delo, 513 U.S. 298, 115 S. Ct. 851, 130 L. Ed. 2d 808 (1995); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-21, 616 P.2d 628 (1980), overruled on other grounds by Washington v. <u>Recuenco</u>, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006). The evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the State. Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319. Due process requires proof beyond a reasonable doubt of each

-6-

and every fact necessary to constitute the charged crime. <u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970).

More than a mere scintilla of evidence is needed to meet the beyonda-reasonable-doubt standard; "there must be that quantum of evidence necessary to establish circumstances from which the jury could reasonably infer the fact to be proved." <u>State v. Miller</u>, 60 Wn. App. 767, 772, 807 P.2d 893 (1991). Although a conviction may be sustained on circumstantial evidence, the existence of a fact cannot rest on guess, speculation, or conjecture. <u>State v. Golladay</u>, 78 Wn.2d 121, 130, 470 P.2d 191 (1970), <u>overruled on other grounds by State v. Arndt</u>, 87 Wn.2d 374, 553 P.2d 1328 (1976)). "This rule is even more essential in criminal cases where the evidence is entirely circumstantial." <u>Id.</u> In <u>State v. Liles</u>, 11 Wn. App. 166, 521 P.2d 973 (1974), the court explained:

When substantial evidence is present, the drawing of reasonable inferences therefrom and the doing of some conjecturing on the basis of such evidence is permissible and acceptable. If, however, the necessity for conjecture results from the fact that the evidence is merely scintilla evidence, then the necessity for conjecture is fatal.

<u>Id.</u> at 171 (citation omitted); <u>accord</u>, <u>State v. Harris</u>, 14 Wn. App. 414, 417-18, 542 P.2d 122 (1975).

Knowledge is frequently shown only by circumstantial evidence. But in this case, there were no substantial facts from which a jury could infer Torres knew the mini-motorcycle was stolen. The record is devoid of the types of evidence that have permitted a jury to infer knowledge in other cases.

For example, only slight additional evidence may be required when the item in question was recently stolen. <u>State v. Withers</u>, 8 Wn. App. 123, 128, 504 P.2d 1151, 1155 (1972) (citing <u>State v. Portee</u>, 25 Wn.2d 246, 170 P.2d 326 (1946)). In the case of a recently stolen firearm, inconsistent statements about the firearm, attempts to sell it, or false or improbable explanations alone may be sufficient. <u>State v. Pisauro</u>, 14 Wn. App. 217, 220-21, 540 P.2d 447, 449-50 (1975). Familiarity with the location of the theft when combined with a dubious explanation has also been held sufficient to show knowledge that property was stolen. <u>State v. Smyth</u>, 7 Wn. App. 50, 499 P.2d 63 (1972).

In this case, there was no indication Torres was familiar with the location of Horton's home where he had kept the bike. Although the minimotorcycle had been recently stolen, Torres did not give an improbable or dubious explanation. He told police the bike belonged to his friend, who had built it. 1RP 75-76. This explanation was probable in light of Hendricks' testimony that he works as an uncertified mechanic and has, in the past, built motorized devices from parts. 1RP 93, 96. Hendricks, in turn, may have given conflicting statements about how he acquired the bike. 1RP 94, 104.

-8-

But this does not amount to evidence that Torres knew whatever Hendricks knew.

In denying Torres' motions to dismiss and for a directed verdict, the trial court acknowledged the evidence of knowledge was thin. 1RP 91. Absent even the minimal circumstances showing knowledge that were present in <u>Pisauro</u> or <u>Smyth</u>, the evidence is insufficient. Torres' conviction for possession of a stolen vehicle should be reversed.

#### 2. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED TORRES' RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL BY HEARING PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IN PRIVATE.

The public trial right is an "essential cog in the constitutional design of fair trial safeguards." <u>State v. Bone-Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d 254, 259, 906 P.2d 325 (1995); U.S. Const. amend. VI;<sup>3</sup> Const. art. I, § 10; Const. Art. I, § 22. Court proceedings may be closed, but a careful procedure must be followed. <u>Bone-Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d at 258-59. Absent consideration, on the record, of the <u>Bone-Club</u> factors, trial closure is structural error requiring reversal. State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1, 13-15, 288 P.3d 1113, 1118 (2012).

Jury selection is a critical part of the trial that must be open to the public. Wise, 176 Wn.2d at 11 (citing Presley v. Georgia, 558 U.S. 209,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Washington's Constitution provides at least as much protection of a defendant's fair trial rights as the Sixth Amendment. <u>State v. Wise</u>, 176 Wn.2d 1, 9, 288 P.3d 1113, 1117 (2012) (quoting <u>Bone–Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d at 260).

130 S. Ct. 721, 724, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2010)). Peremptory challenges are an integral part of selecting a jury. <u>See State v. Saintcalle</u>, 178 Wn.2d 34, 52, 309 P.3d 326 (2013) (peremptory challenges established by Washington's first territorial legislature over 150 years ago). This should be the end of the inquiry. Courts may not keep this proceeding from the public's view by closing the courtroom. Nor may they achieve the same goal by conducting the challenges silently on paper. Torres' convictions must be reversed because the private exercise of peremptory challenges violated his constitutional right to a public trial.

#### a. <u>Peremptory Challenges Are Part of Voir Dire and</u> <u>Must Be Open to Public Scrutiny.</u>

"The public trial right applies to jury selection." <u>Wise</u>, 176 Wn.2d at 11 (citing <u>Presley</u>, 558 U.S. 209). To determine whether a specific portion of jury selection implicates the public trial right, this Court has applied the "experience and logic" test, adopted in <u>State v. Sublett</u>. <u>State v. Wilson</u>, 174 Wn. App. 328, 337, 298 P.3d 148 (2013) (citing <u>State v. Sublett</u>, 176 Wn.2d 58, 73, 292 P.3d 715, 722 (2012)).

Under that test, the court first inquires, "whether the place and process have historically been open to the press and general public."" <u>Sublett</u>, 176 Wn.2d at 73 (quoting <u>Press–Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court</u>, 478 U.S. 1, 8-10, 106 S. Ct. 2735, 92 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1986)). If so, the court

-10-

inquires, "whether public access plays a significant positive role in the functioning of the particular process in question." <u>Id.</u> The public trial right applies whenever the answer to both questions is "yes." <u>Sublett</u>, 176 Wn.2d at 73. In two recent cases, this Court has deemed the exercise of peremptory challenges to be an integral part of jury selection that must be public under the experience and logic test set forth in <u>Sublett</u>.

In <u>Wilson</u>, this Court held the public trial right was not implicated when the bailiff excused two jurors due to illness before voir dire began. 174 Wn. App. at 347. The Court drew a distinction between administrative removal of potential jurors before voir dire and integral portions of jury selection, including peremptory challenges. <u>Id.</u> at 342-43.

The Court explained, "[B]oth the Legislature and our Supreme Court have acknowledged that a trial court has discretion to excuse jurors outside the public courtroom for statutorily-defined reasons, <u>provided such</u> <u>juror excusals do not amount to</u> for-cause excusals or <u>peremptory</u> <u>challenges traditionally exercised during voir dire in the courtroom</u>." <u>Id.</u> at 344 (emphasis added). Similarly, a trial court may delegate hardship and administrative excusals to other staff, "provided that the excusals are not the equivalent of peremptory or for cause juror challenges." <u>Id.</u> Wilson's public trial argument failed because he could not show "the public trial right attaches to any component of jury selection that does not involve 'voir dire' or a similar jury selection proceeding involving the exercise of 'peremptory' challenges and 'for cause' juror excusals." <u>Id.</u> at 342.

In State v. Jones, 175 Wn. App. 87, 91, 303 P.3d 1084 (2013), this Court held the public trial right was violated when, during a court recess off the record, the clerk drew names to determine which jurors would serve as alternates. The court recognized, "both the historic and current practices in Washington reveal that the procedure for selecting alternate jurors, like the selection of regular jurors, generally occurs as part of voir dire in open court." Id. at 101. As in Wilson, the Jones court referred to the exercise of peremptory challenges as a part of jury selection that must be public. Id. The court held the selection of alternate jurors must be public because it is akin to exercising peremptory challenges. Id. at 98 ("Washington's first enactment regarding alternate jurors not only specified a particular procedure for the alternate juror selection, but it specifically instructed that alternate jurors be called in the same manner as deliberating jurors and subject to for-cause and peremptory challenges in open court.").

As <u>Wilson</u> and <u>Jones</u> suggest, the "experience" component of the <u>Sublett</u> test is satisfied in this case. "[S]ince the development of trial by jury, the process of selection of jurors has presumptively been a public

-12-

process with exceptions only for good cause shown." <u>Press-Enterprise</u> <u>Co.</u>, 464 U.S. at 505. The criminal rules of procedure show our courts have historically treated peremptory challenges as part of voir dire on par with for-cause challenges. <u>Wilson</u>, 174 Wn. App. at 342. CrR 6.4(b) contemplates voir dire as involving peremptory and for-cause challenges. <u>Id.</u> CrR 6.4(b) describes "voir dire" as a process where the trial court and counsel question prospective jurors to assess their ability to serve on the particular case and to enable counsel to exercise intelligent "for cause" and "peremptory" juror challenges. <u>Id.</u> at 343.

This stands in sharp contrast with CrR 6.3, which contemplates administrative excusal of potential jurors before voir dire begins in the public courtroom. <u>Id.</u> at 342-43. In further contrast, a trial court has discretion to excuse jurors outside the public courtroom under RCW 2.36.100 (1), but only so long as "such juror excusals do not amount to for-cause excusals or <u>peremptory challenges</u> traditionally exercised during voir dire in the courtroom." <u>Id.</u> at 344 (emphasis added).

The "logic" component of the <u>Sublett</u> test is satisfied as well. "Our system of voir dire and juror challenges, including causal challenges and peremptory challenges, is intended to secure impartial jurors who will perform their duties fully and fairly." <u>Saintcalle</u>, 178 Wn.2d at 74 (González, J., concurring). "The peremptory challenge is an important

-13-

'state-created means to the constitutional end of an impartial jury and a fair trial.'" Id. at 62 (Madsen, C.J. concurring) (quoting Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42, 59, 112 S. Ct. 2348, 120 L. Ed. 2d 33 (1992)).

While peremptory challenges may be exercised based on subjective feelings and opinions, there are important constitutional limits on both parties' exercise of such challenges. <u>McCollum</u>, 505 U.S. at 48-50. A prosecutor may not challenge a juror based on race, ethnicity, or gender. <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. 79, 86, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986); <u>Rivera v. Illinois</u>, 556 U.S. 148, 153, 129 S. Ct. 1446, 173 L. Ed. 2d 320 (2009); <u>State v. Burch</u>, 65 Wn. App. 828, 836, 830 P.2d 357 (1992). Discrimination in jury selection casts doubt on the integrity of the judicial process and the fairness of criminal proceedings. <u>Powers v. Ohio</u>, 499 U.S. 400, 411, 111 S. Ct. 1364, 113 L. Ed. 2d 411 (1991); <u>Saintcalle</u>, 178 Wn.2d at 41. The exercise of peremptory challenges directly impacts the fairness of a trial, and it is inappropriate to shield that process from public scrutiny.

The public trial right encompasses "circumstances in which the public's mere presence passively contributes to the fairness of the proceedings by, for example deterring deviations from established procedures, reminding the officers of the court of the importance of their functions, and subjecting judges to the check of public scrutiny." <u>State v.</u>

<u>Slert</u>, 169 Wn. App. 766, 772, 282 P.3d 101 (2012), <u>review granted in</u> <u>part</u>, 299 P.3d 20 (2013) (quoting <u>State v. Bennett</u>, 168 Wn. App. 197, 204, 275 P.3d 1224 (2012)). An open peremptory process safeguards against discrimination by discouraging both discriminatory challenges and the subsequent removal of jurors that have been improperly challenged.<sup>4</sup>

Public trials are a check on the judicial system that provides for accountability and transparency. <u>Wise</u>, 176 Wn.2d at 6. "'Essentially, the public-trial guarantee embodies a view of human nature, true as a general rule, that judges [and] lawyers . . . will perform their respective functions more responsibly in an open court than in secret proceedings.'" <u>Id.</u> at 17 (quoting <u>Waller v. Georgia</u>, 467 U.S. 39, 46 n.4, 104 S. Ct. 2210, 81 L. Ed. 2d 31 (1984)). Both experience and logic indicate that the exercise of peremptory challenges is a crucial part of a criminal trial that must be open to the public.

#### b. <u>The Procedure Used in this Case Was Private.</u>

The exercise of peremptory challenges in this case occurred entirely on paper, rather than in public. 2RP 68; CP 43. Information about which side challenged which jurors was put on the record later, but was not open to

-15-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>But see State v. Love</u>, 176 Wn. App. 911, \_\_\_\_\_, 309 P.3d 1209, 1214 (2013) (exercise of peremptory challenges "presents no questions of public oversight.").

the public at the time. CP 43, 45-46. This was, for all intents and purposes, a closed, private proceeding.

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