I. STATEMENT OF F A C T S 

A. Facts Regarding Sufficiency of Evidence Issue 

Michael Horton purchased a mini motorcycle sometime in late 

June, 2012. (RP at 49, 50). He had a photo taken with him on it the day he 

purchased it. (RP at 49-51, referring to Exhibits 1 and 2). The mini 

motorcycle was distinctive: it had vice grips, electrical tape on the gas 

tank, a recycling sticker on the right side of the gas tank and the seat had a 

small tear which was sewn with blue fabric. (RP at 51-53). Someone 

stole it from his Richland, Washington, home on September 12, 2012. 

(RP at 53, 84-85). 

On October 2, 2012, Horton and his coworker, Ricardo Campos, 

Jr., were working in a commercial building in Kennewick when Campos 

saw a man driving the mini motorcycle (RP at 54, 69, 75). He alerted Mr. 

Horton. (RP at 55). The driver saw Horton and Campos watching him and 

took some evasive action. (RP at 70). Horton followed the driver and 

called the police. (RP at 55). Horton and Campos watched as Kennewick 

Police Officer Christopher Littrell contacted the person they saw driving 

the mini motorcycle. (RP at 56, 70-71). The defendant was the driver. 

(RP at 75). 
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The mini motorcycle had been altered by having the electrical tape 

torn off, the headlight removed and the seat rewrapped with another blue 

fabric (RP at 57-58). 

The defendant told Officer Littrell that it was a friend's bike and 

that the friend had built it from the ground up. (RP at 75-76). However, 

Jeremy Hendricks, a 17-18 year friend of the defendant, testified that a 

friend dropped off the mini motorcycle for repairs on a throttle cable about 

two weeks before the defendant's arrest and that it was assembled when it 

came into his possession. (RP at 94, 100). Hendricks testified that a 

"Dustin" (unknown last name) asked him to repair it. (RP at 94). 

However, Hendricks told Officer Littrell that the mini motorcycle came 

from a "Nick." (RP at 104). 

B. Facts Regarding Peremptory Challenges 

After the voir dire examination of the potential jurors, the parties 

exercised their peremptory challenges in court and on the record. (CP 48). 

Both parties put in writing which jurors they peremptorily challenged. 

(CP 43). 
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C. Facts Regarding Restitution Order 

The mini motorcycle was damaged in several ways: The electrical 

harness was missing, the front brake cylinder was broken, the view hole 

for the fluid was damaged, and the headlight was missing, the carburetor 

was missing the filter, the seat had been torn and broken and the plastic 

under the seat had been shattered. (RP at 57-58, 61). The State requested 

restitution in the amount of $503.35 for Mr. Horton and the defendant did 

not object. (CP 33). 

II . ARGUMENT 

A. State's Response to Defendant's Argument Number 1: ("The 

evidence was insufficient to prove Torres knew the mini-motorcycle was 

stolen." App. Brief at 5.) 

1. Standard on Review: 

The standard on review for a challenge to the sufficiency of the 

evidence is that the evidence is sufficient if, after it is viewed in the light 

most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the 

essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. 

Randhawa, 133 Wn.2d 67, 941 P.2d 661 (1997). 
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2. There was more than sufficient evidence, when 
viewed in the light most favorable to the State, 
for a rational jury to have found the defendant 
"knew" the mini motorcycle was stolen. 

"Knowledge" was defined in jury instruction number eight and 

was based on WPIC 10.02 and RCW 9A.08.010. (CP 17). Under that 

definition, the defendant "knew" of the fact that the mini motorcycle was 

stolen i f he was aware of that fact. Also, the jury could find that he had 

knowledge i f he had information which would lead a reasonable person in 

the same situation to believe it was stolen. 

Here, in the light most favorable to the State, the jury could 

conclude: 

• The appearance of the mini motorcycle had been altered in 

several ways, removing the electrical tape, removing the 

headlight, and changing the fabric on the seat. A jury 

could find that the defendant did this to avoid the 

possibility that it would be recognized. 

• The defendant took evasive action when Mr. Horton and 

Mr. Campos saw him on the mini motorcycle. 

• The defendant lied about who owned the mini motorcycle 

and how it was built. He told Officer Littrell that it 

belonged to a friend of his who built it from the ground up. 
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Unfortunately for him, his friend, Jeremy Hendricks, gave a 

different story. Specifically, Hendricks said that he 

received the mini motorcycle from "Dustin" about two 

weeks before the defendant's arrest. 

• Mr. Hendricks did not help the defendant's cause by being 

unable to give a last name, phone number or address for 

"Dustin." He also gave a contradictory statement to 

Officer Littrell when he said the owner was "Nick." He 

also had no explanation for his refusal to speak with the 

police and his delay in reporting any exculpatory evidence 

for the defendant, his friend of 17-18 years. (RP at 99¬

100). 

The jury had more than sufficient evidence to conclude both that 

the defendant had actual knowledge that the mini motorcycle was stolen 

and to conclude that a reasonable person would have known it was stolen. 

B. State's Response to Defendant's Argument Number 2: ("The 

trial court violated Torres' right to a public trial by hearing peremptory 

challenges in private." App. Brief at 9.) 
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1. Standard on Review: 

If there was a closure, whether or not the closure was proper is 

adjudged by application of the five factor test set forth in State v. Bone-

Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 261, 906 P.2d 325 (1995). Whether or not a 

particular portion of a proceeding was required to be held in public is 

determined by use of the "experience and logic" test in State v. Sublett, 

176 Wn.2d 58, 72, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). As explained in the lead Sublett 

opinion, the "experience and logic" test requires courts to assess the 

necessity for closure by consideration of both history (experience) and the 

purposes of the open trial provision (logic). State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 

73. The experience prong asks whether the practice in question 

historically has been open to the public, while the logic prong asks 

whether public access is significant to the functioning of the right. Id. I f 

both prongs are answered affirmatively, then the Bone-Club test must be 

applied before the court can close the courtroom. State v. Love, 176 Wn. 

App. 911, 916, 309 P.3d 1209 (2013). 

The defendant bears the burden of establishing a public trial right 

violation. State v. Rainey, Wn. App. , 319 P.3d 86 (2014). 
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2. The defendant has not established that there was 
a closure, or, even if there was, that the 
procedure violates the "experience and logic" 
test. 

a. Conducting the peremptory challenges in 
writing does not constitute a closure of 
the courtroom. 

As stated in Sublett at 71, "a closure 'occurs when the courtroom is 

completely and purposefully closed to spectators so that no one may enter 

and no one may leave.'" Here, the courtroom was not closed. The voir 

dire was conducted in open court. The peremptory challenges were made 

in open court. None of the peremptory challenges were contested and the 

trial judge did not make any decisions regarding those challenges. 

Whether the peremptory challenges were made verbally or in writing is 

not important. In either case, the courtroom was open to all and the 

peremptory challenges were made on the record. 

b. Peremptory challenges have been done 
historically in writing, not verbally. 

State v. Love, 176 Wn. App. 911, 309 P.3d 1209 (2013), is 

instructive. That Court reviewed the history of voir dire and stated: 
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[T]he history review confirms that in over 140 years of 
cause and peremptory challenges in this state, there is little 
evidence of the public exercise of such challenges, and 
some evidence that they are conducted privately. Our 
experience does not require that the exercise of these 
challenges be conducted in public.1 

Love, 176 Wn. App. at 919. 

The Love Court cited State v. Thomas, in which the defendant 

claimed that written peremptory challenges denied a fair and public trial. 

State v. Thomas, 16 Wn. App. 1, 553 P.2d 1357 (1976). The Thomas 

Court noted that this practice was utilized in several counties in the state. 

Thomas, 16 Wn. App. at 13. The State suggests that the common practice 

in virtually every trial is to conduct the peremptory challenges in court, on 

the record and in writing. The defendant's argument that the defense 

attorney and prosecutor should stand up and announce in front of the 

venire which jurors they do not like is not required by CrR 6.4(e)(2), 

Peremptory Challenges-How Taken, and has never been the common 

practice in the state. 

It is important to know what peremptory challenges are exercised 

to determine i f there was a pattern of race-based challenges. See Batson v. 

Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986). The 

standard practice of making the peremptory challenges in writing serves 

1 The Love court specifically reserved the issue of whether there was a closure of the 
courtroom. 
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this purpose. There is a record of which parties peremptorily challenged 

which jurors and the order in which those challenges were made. That 

record is available for public scrutiny and is part of the court file. 

The defendant has not shown that the history of exercising 

peremptory challenges requires verbally stating which jurors are 

challenged. 

c. The defendant's argument also does not 
pass the "logic" test. 

As stated in Love, 

The purposes of the public trial right are to ensure a fair 
trial, to remind the officers of the court of the importance of 
their functions, to encourage witnesses to come forward 
and to discourage perjury. Those purposes simply are not 
furthered by a party's actions in exercising a peremptory  
challenge or in seeking a cause challenge of a potential 
juror. The first action presents no questions of public 
oversight, and the second typically presents issues of law 
for the judge to decide. The written record of these 
actions—the clerk's written juror record and the court 
reporter's transcription of the cause challenges at sidebar— 
satisfies the public's interest in the case and assures that all 
activities were conducted aboveboard, even i f not within 
public earshot . . . . Neither prong of the experience and 
logic test suggests that the exercise of cause or peremptory 
challenges must take place in public. 

Love, 176 Wn. App. at 919 (emphasis added). 

The Thomas Court also noted that peremptory challenges are 

created by the courts or legislature; there is no right to a peremptory 
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challenge. Thomas, 16 Wn. App. at 13. 

It does not serve any purpose of the public trial right to require that 

the attorneys verbally state their peremptory challenges instead of, or in 

lieu of, stating them in writing. 

C. State's Response to Defendant's Argument Number 3: ("The 

restitution order should be vacated because the State failed to present 

substantial evidence of the amount of loss." App. Brief at 20.) 

1. The defendant did not object to the restitution 
order in the trial court and should not be 
allowed to raise the argument for the first time 
on appeal. 

This Court need not address the merits of the defendant's argument 

because he did not object to the restitution order at the trial court. Under 

RAP 2.5(a), a party may raise claimed errors for the first time in the 

appellate court based on 1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, 2) failure to 

establish facts upon which relief can be granted or 3) manifest error 

affecting a constitutional right. None of these apply. The defendant has 

not argued that RAP 2.5(a) is inapplicable. 

In State v. WW J Corp., 138 Wn.2d 595, 980 P.2d 1257 (1999), the 

Court held that claimed errors by the trial court in imposing fines cannot 
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be raised for first time on appeal. In State v. Moen, 129 Wn.2d 535, 919 

P.2d 69 (1996), the Court held that the defendant may challenge a 

restitution order for the first time on appeal based on the trial court's lack 

of jurisdiction to impose restitution within the statutory time period. 

However, the Moen Court stated that the imposition of restitution does not 

involve a constitutional right. State v. Moen, 129 Wn.2d 535, 543, 919 

P.2d 69 (1996). Likewise, State v. T.A.D., 122 Wn. App. 290, 95 P.3d 775 

(2004), held that a challenge to the court's statutory authority to order 

restitution may be raised for the first time on appeal. (Emphasis added.) 

In this case, the trial court followed the procedure outlined in RCW 

9.94A.753. The trial court determines the amount of restitution at the 

sentencing hearing. I f there is an objection, then the trial court sets a 

hearing within 180 days. We still do not know i f the defendant objects to 

the restitution amount. In this appeal, the defendant has not stated that he 

disagrees with the amount of restitution ordered; he only states that there 

was no supporting evidence. 

The defendant's argument ignores the statutory practice. I f a 

defendant objects at sentencing to the State's restitution request, the trial 

court sets a hearing. I f there is no objection, the trial court signs the 

Judgment and Sentence ordering the requested restitution. 
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2. If this Court reviews the merits of the argument, 
the standard on review is abuse of discretion and 
there is a strong public policy in favor of 
ensuring that victims are awarded restitution. 

Restitution awards are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State 

v. T.A.D., 122 Wn. App. at 292. Further, a victim's loss need not be 

established with specific accuracy. State v. Kinneman, 122 Wn. App. 850, 

95 P.3d 1277 (2004). I f the defendant had objected, the State would have 

the burden of proving restitution by a preponderance of the evidence, not 

beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Dedonado, 99 Wn. App. 251, 256, 

991 P.2d 1216 (2000). Also, restitution statutes are interpreted broadly in 

favor of restitution unless there is clearly expressed legislative language to 

the contrary. State v. Thomas, 138 Wn. App. 78, 155 P.3d 998 (2007). 

There is a strong public policy to provide restitution whenever possible. 

State v. Selland, 54 Wn. App. 122, 772 P.2d 534 (1989). 

3. The defendant has not shown that the trial court 
abused its discretion in entering the restitution 
order. 

To reiterate, the mini motorcycle was badly damaged: The 

electrical harness was missing, the front brake cylinder was broken, the 

view hole for the fluid was damaged, the headlight was missing, the 

carburetor was missing the filter, the seat had been torn and broken, and 

the plastic under the seat had been shattered. (RP at 57-58, 61). The 
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amount of restitution ordered, $503.35, seems appropriate. The defendant 

has presented nothing to show that the trial court abused its discretion in 

allowing the award. 

III . CONCLUSION 

There was sufficient evidence to convict the defendant. He was in 

possession of a stolen vehicle, the appearance of that vehicle had been 

altered, he tried to evade the owner and the owner's friend when they saw 

him on the vehicle, and he was untruthful about the construction of the 

vehicle and to whom it belonged. 

There was no courtroom closure regarding the peremptory 

challenges. Historically, peremptory challenges are made in open court, 

on the record, but in writing, not verbally. That was the procedure 

followed in this case. There is no logical reason why the attorneys should 

be required to state verbally which jurors they are challenging 

peremptorily. 

Finally, the defendant did not object to the restitution order, 

possibly because the vehicle was badly damaged and the restitution 

requested was fair. 
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The conviction and the restitution order should be affirmed. 

R E S P E C T F U L L Y SUBMITTED this 27 t h day of March, 2014. 

ANDY M I L L E R 
Prosecutor 

T^fc.Y J. BLOOR, Deputy 
Prosecuting Attorney, Bar No. 9044 
OFCIDNo. 91004